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October 1, 2003 
SUBJECT: Arbitration Award Barring Management Letters 

to Limited Duty Letter Carriers' and Their Physicians 

TO:A11 NALC Region #1 Branch Presidents 

Dear Brothers and Sisters: 

Please find enclosed a copy of a recent Regional Arbitration Award, regarding a 
grievance that was processed in Chula Vista, California. The grievance 
protested the Postal Service's processing of letters to limited duty [on the job 
injury] letter carriers and their treating physicians. 

The Arbitrator's decision found numerous violations by management of 
Subchapter 540 of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual [ELM] and 
Articie 19 of the National Ageenlent in their utilization of those letters. The 
Arbitrator's Award supported the NALC's position that the letters' implication 
of a 90 day tern1 of limited duty, the failure of the Postal Service to utilize Fornls 
CA-17 in attaining Iinlited duty employees' duty status. the E~nployer's 
consideration of  cL~o~7di[io~7~rI E X I C I ~ S ~ U I I S "  to _grant limited duty, the utilization of 
"sccondpliysicia17's opilzio,7" beyond the scope and authority of Office Of 
Workcrs' Compensation Programs in the Department of Labor, and the 
Employer's cornrnu~~icati~lg to enlployee physicians regardin2 matters beyond 
the employee's work limitations and the employee's ability to perform possible 
job assignments are a11 in violation of Subchapter 540 of the ELM and the 
National Agreement. 

My understanding is that there are numerous similar probleins in areas covered 
by NALC Branches in this Region. Please read and understand the Arbitrator's 
Decision in the aforementioned case and utilize i t  whenever necessary to combat 
violations to the National Agreenlent of a sinlilar nature. 

1 encl 
as 

cy : 
tile 

DALE P. HART 
NATIONAL BUSINESS AGENT 
San Francisco Region # 1  



REGULAR ARBITRATION PANEL 

In the Matter of Arbitration between ) 
1 

Grievant: Class Action 

\ 

UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE i Post Office: Chula Vista, CA 
1 

and i USPS Case No: FOIN-4F-C 03061224 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
LETTER CARRIERS, AFL-CIO 

1 
NALC Case No: 2C 1435 

BEFORE: Charles M. Rehmus, Arbitrator 

APPEARANCES: 

For the U.S. Postal Service: Dave Beauvais, Labor Relations Specialist 

For the Union: David L. Schioer, Local Business Agent 

Place of Hearing: Chula Vista, CA 

Date of Hearing: June 24, 2003 

Date of Award: September 29, 2003 

Relevant Contract Provision: Articles 3, 5 ,  19, 21 

Contract Yefir: 200 1-06 

Type of Grievance: Contract 

AWARD: The letters to employees and their physicians regarding work-related 
injuries in issue here did not comply with several sections of the ELM 
and thus violated Article 19 of the National Agreement. Chula Vista 
Management shall immediately Cease and Desist from issuing these 
letters, or letters like them, containing similar violations. 



ISSUE 

Did the Employer violate Articles 3, 5, 19, or 21 of the National Agreement by issuing letters 

to employees and their doctors regarding the employees' work-related injuries? If so, what should 

the remedy be? 

BACKGROUND 

This grievance originated when a Letter Carrier who had incurred an on-the-job injury and 

had nor yet returned to work approached her NALC Shop Steward with two letters she had received 

from Managemenr that worried her. The first was a letter addressed to her which stated that her 

limited duty status, which the Canier had been on for 90 days, was being reevaluated by the Service 

(JX2, 5 )  The second letter, which she was to take to her physician, asked for the physician's 

progosis ofthe Carrier's limited duty status and whether the physician would consider referring his 

patient to a specialist, preferably one from a list of specialists the Service would provide (JX2, 13). 

The physician was also asked whether he/she would consider the patient a candidate for "work 

hardening" or "vocational rehabilitation." (JX2, 16). The Union discovered that several other 

employees who were also on limited duty in the Chula Vista Post Office had received similar letters 

and instructions. 

The Union subsequently filed a Class Action grievance alleging that these letters and 

instmctions to this individual and to other employees violated h i c l e s  3, 19, and 2 1 of the National 

Agreement (JX2, 7).  The grievance was denied at Informal and Formal A Steps. Apparently the 

Union representative was told at Formal Step A that these letters were part of a District-wide policy 
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and not subject to a local decision or local withdrawal.. 

At Step B the Union contended the Service had instituted new and different rules beyond 

those in the ELM for injured employees, assertedly a violation of Article 5 as well. The DRT failed 

to  reach common ground and declared themselves at impasse. 

Only two witnesses, one from each party, testified at the arbitration hearing. The parties' 

representatives stated they wished to develop the issues presented by the grievance hrther in their 

post-hearing briefs. They later mutually agreed to extend the originally agreed-upon time for filing 

of briefs. These post-hexing briefs were ultimately received on September 16, 2003. Thereafter the 

record was closed. 

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES 

The Union filed an extensive brief in this matter. Essentially, it contends that ELM Section 

546.61 1, pertaining to medical work limitation tolerances, are "... established by the employee's 

treating physician or a physician selected by OWCP ... " The Union argues these letters; ( I ) ,  threaten 

employees by implying erroneously that the Service can cut off their limited duty status after 90 days, 

and (Z), that the letters interfere with the employee's treating physician by attempting to supplant or  

supplement that physician with another preferred by the Postal Service. The Union argues both of 

these Postal efforts go beyond the Service's limited authority set out in the ELM for limited duty 

cases (m) as well as the regulations of the Office of Workers' Compensation Programs, or OWCP 
1 

(JX4).. Uunder these regulations only the treating physician or OWCP can establish an employee's 

work limitations and only they may decide how long an employee is to be on limited duty. The Union 

contends these Postal e f f~r t s  embodied in the letters have an "adverse or disruptive impact on the 
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employee" which is contrary to the "pecking order" in ELM Seciion 546.142.a.(1)-(4). 

Finally, the Union notes the second physician's opinion that is offered or proposed in the 

letters is not that same opinion as the "fitness for duty" examination provided for in ELM Section 

545.62. Rather, the alternative physician proposal here is an attempt to circumvent OWCP 

regulations. The Union cites a number of National Level 4 settlements and prior arbitration awards 

in support of these arguments. As the remedy for the violations of the ELM, and thus violations of 

Article 19 and other articles of the National Agrement that these letters represent, the Union asks a 

Cease and Desist Order be issued against the Employer for continuing to use these or similar letters. 

Management argues in response that the San Diego Injury Compensation office introduced 

this Transitional Duty Program (TDP) in 2002. Its purpose was simply to "move along" the cases 

of employees who have been on limited duty longer than the statistical average for their particular 

injury; placing them either in fu l l  recovery or into pemanent and stationary status. The letters that 

are grieved here are simply part of this overall TDP program. This program was submitted to the 

Department of Labor's OWCP and the Union's National Business Agent for the Western Region 

before it  was instituted, and OWCP did not object to the Transitional Duty Program (TDP). 

Management argues the letters grieved here simply instruct an injured employee to take a 

second letter to their doctor. This second letter asks the employee's physician for additional medical 

information. The employee's physician is not compelled by this second letter either that s h e  must 

seek a specialist's advice or must only use a specialist approved by the Service. Thus, the Service 

I 
contends, the letters do not in any way impede or interfere with the personal physician's treatment 

of the injured employee. 

Management argues hrther that under ELM Section 545.33 employees injured on duty are 
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obligated to return to work, or come back to whatever work is within their medical restrictions, as 

soon as they are able to do so. This Transitional Duty Program simply helps ensure that this 

obligation is met. When an employee is away fiom work for longer than would normally be expected, 

the Service has every right under ELM Section 545.33(c) to ask the employee's physician when sfhe 

can be "expected to  return to work in any capacity, ..." Management argues these letters go  to the 

heart of its employees' responsibility to return to work as promptly as possible. 

Management cites a prior arbitration award upholding its Article 3 right to establish safety and 

work efficiency programs. It argues the letters grieved here also comport with ELM Sections 545.3 1 

and 33 by ensuring that employees return to work as soon as is medically possible. The letters also 

ensure that employees' physicians respond promptly to the Employer's need for medical information. 

It therefore asks that this grievance be denied. 

DISCUSSION 

It seems appropriate first to respond here to Management's argument that its Transitional 

Duty Program (TDP) was, prior to its institution, submitted to both DOL-OWCP and to the Union. 

Hence, Management argues, OWCP had knowledge of the new program and apparently no objection. 

Certainly the testimony of the District's Injury Compensation Manager was that the TDP was 

submitted to DOL-OWCP and he states they raised no objections to it. But no written 

documentation approving the new program was provided in support of this testimony. ELM Section 
1 

54 1.12 states that the OWCP Director or designees have "exclusive authority to administer, interpret 

and enforce the provisions of the [FECIAct," which Act creates OWCP. So one would have 

I 
I prefened to see some v/ritten evidence that OWCP supported or  approved this new Postal program 



that apparentiy is designed to supplement OWCP regulations regarding the return of injured Postal 

employees to work.. But, in any event, it is not for an arbitrator to interpret OWCP regulations; that 

is, unless they are specifically repeated in the ELM. If OWCP regulations are maintained or 

complied-with by repetition in the ELM they thus become enforceable under Article 19 of the parties' 

National Agreement. 

It is equally true that the TDP was submitted to the Union's National Business Agent. The 

parties here stipulated regarding this submission: 

LfNBA Dale Hart testified he would testify that he met with management on 
3 different occasions discussing the Transitional Duty Program which 
management intended to implement. Mr. Hart hadhas problems with the 
program which are covered in the instant grievance, particularly that the 
program violates Sub-chapter 540 of the ELM and OWCP regulations. If 
management were to have changed the program to be in compliance then he 
would have agreed with the program; Mr. Hart offered such at a meeting but 
management did not get back to him about same. 

On this record I conclude that this grievance does not relate to a settled or agreed-upon 

matter. As this grievance relates to whether the letters in issue are in conformity with the ELM, and 

thus Article 19, it is properly before me. I have further concluded that the letters themselves, while 

they and the TDP may have important and worthwhile goals, are not in conformity with the ELM. 

The letters, wherever they may have originated, are signed by the ChulaVista Postmaster. 

Whatever their intent, they alone are the best evidence of their nonconformity with the ELM. For 

example, they state to the employee, "In an effort to accommodate to newly injured employees we 

are able to offer you limited duty for a period up to 90 days." (JX2; 5,9,11). This does not appear 

accurate. ELM Section 541.13 I .a provides for a maximum of Continuation of Pay for 45 days, but 

ELM Section 54 1.13 1 .b sets no apparent limit on "Compensation for wages lost as a result of a job- 
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related injury or disease or illness." Hence the 90-day limit implied by these letters is a new 

limitation, one that is different from the time limits found in the ELM. 

ELM Section 541.3 requires installation heads to maintain copies of Form CA-17, Duty Status 

Reports. Subpart D of 20 CFR, Section 10.33 1, the OWCP regulation, states, "The employer should 

use Form CA-17 to obtain interim reports concerning the duty status of an employee with a disabling 

injury." The TDP letter here that employees are directed to take to their physicians appears to be a 

substitute for the OWCP and ELM-mandated use ofForm CA-17. Yet employees are toid, "You will 

need to take this letter to your physici an..." (JX2, 5). Form CA- 17 is apparently now to be dropped 

in place of this TDP substitute, yet CA-17 is still required by the ELM for use to obtain interim 

private physician's reports. 

The letter to injured employees from the Chula Vista Postmaster continues, "The Injury 

Cornpensarion Office along with the Associate Area Medical Director (AAMD) will consider your 

trating physician's response and may, in some cases if medically justified, extend your limited duty 

beyond 90 days." (JX2; 6, 10, 12). Yet JCAM, page 13-1, explains, "Limited duty may be provided 

for an employee who is temporarily or permanently incapable of performing hidher normal duties." 

"Permanently," as used in the JCAM, certainly suggests there is no 90-day limit. So this implication 

in the letter of some 90-day limit is also contraq to the parties' National Agreement as set forth in 

the JCAM. 

The TDP letters to employees' physicians contain some of these similar conflicts with the 

ELM. The letter to the employee's physician requests a "rnedicil update" in a form other than Form 

CA-17. This new response is assertedly needed if the Employer is to "consider a conditional 

extension of limited duty." Nothing in the ELM speaks to "conditional extensions." 
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A second physician's opinion is also suggested by the letter to physicians. Yet second opinions 

may only be required by OWCP, not by the Employer. (This is not true of Fitness For Duty 

Examinations, which are not involved here.) The letter to physicians also speaks of and suggests 

specialist referrals, which specialists the Service would "prefer" be provided by it (JX2, 7,13). This 

suggestion comes rather close to interference with the patient-physician relationship and course of 

treatment, which interference is forbidden by the ELM in Section 545.53. 

ELM Section 545.52 limits the Employer's right to communicate with the employee's 

physician to two subjects. The first of these subjects is work limitations imposed by the injury. The 

second is whether the employee can perfom possible job assignments. The letters in issue here ask 

the employee's physician whether s h e  would "consider this patient a candidate for 'work hardening' 

or 'vocational rehabilitation."' I am unfamiliar with the precise meaning of these terms but as a 

layman would suspect they go beyond the subject and communication limitations of Section 545.52  

of the ELM. 

In light of the explanations set forth in the preceding paragraphs, I am persuaded by the 

Union's arguments that these two letters included as part of the TDP are in violation of the ELM, and 

thus of Article 19 of the National Agreement. The overall subject to which the TDP and the letters 

is addressed--the steeply increasing costs of workers' compensation--is a matter of legitimate 

concern, both in California and nationally. But efforts to deal with this problem must of course be 

in compliance with the Federal Employees Compensation Act as well as the OWCP regulations and 

1 
the ELM sections that result from that Act The letters that are the subject of this grievance did not 

comply with the ELM. This grievance will therefore be sustained as the letters are thus a violation 

of Article 19 of the National Agreement. 


